## IMPACTS OF EXTRACTIVE INDUSTRY AND INFRASTRUCTURE ON FORESTS

## **CENTRAL AMERICA**



Laura Aileen Sauls and Herman Rosa

## Assessment and Scoping of Extractive Industries and Infrastructure in Relation to Deforestation: Central America

Prepared for the Climate and Land Use Alliance by Laura Aileen Sauls<sup>1</sup> and Herman Rosa<sup>2</sup> with Anthony J. Bebbington<sup>3</sup> and Denise Humphreys Bebbington<sup>1</sup>

December 2018

This report was prepared as part of Contracts # 1607-55271 and #1611-55359 to Clark University Graduate School of Geography (PIs: Denise Humphreys Bebbington and Anthony J. Bebbington, Co-PI John Rogan)

*Funding for this report was provided by the Climate and Land Use Alliance. The authors are solely responsible for its content.* 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Clark University

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Private Consultant

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> University of Melbourne and Clark University

## **Table of Contents**

ACRONYMS AND ABBREVIATIONS	3
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY	4
A. INTRODUCTION	6
BACKGROUND/CONTEXT	6
PURPOSE AND STRUCTURE OF REPORT	8
B. EXTRACTIVE INDUSTRY AND INFRASTRUCTURE IN CENTRAL AMERICA	9
1. Extractive Industry	10
2. ENERGY AND INFRASTRUCTURE: CAPACITY AND CONNECTIVITY	15
C. KEY DRIVERS OF EXTRACTIVE INDUSTRY AND INFRASTRUCTURE	18
1. MACROECONOMIC POLICIES FOR RESOURCE-BASED FDI	19
2. NATIONAL AND REGIONAL POLICIES FOR INTEGRATION	19
3. New Financial flows and actors	20
4. CORRUPTION AND SPECIAL INTERESTS	21
5. INFRASTRUCTURE FOR INFORMAL AND ILLICIT ECONOMIES	21
6. Synergies between infrastructure, energy, and agroindustry	22
D. IMPACTS OF EXTRACTION AND INFRASTRUCTURE	22
E. REGULATORS OF EII EXPANSION	27
F. RESPONSES TO NEGATIVE IMPACTS ON FORESTS AND COMMUNITIES	29
G. CONCLUSIONS	33
REFERENCES	35

## **Acronyms and Abbreviations**

Acronym		
APP	Alliance for Prosperity (Alianza para la Prosperidad)	
ASM	artisanal small-scale mining	
BNDES	Brazilian National Development Bank	
CAFTA	Central American Free Trade Agreement	
CELAC	Community of Latin American and Caribbean States	
CSR	corporate social responsibility	
EII	extractive industry and infrastructure	
EITI	Extractive Industries Transparency Initiative	
FDI	foreign direct investment	
FPIC	free, prior and informed consent	
GIS	geographic information system	
ha	hectare	
IACHR	Inter-American Court of Human Rights	
ICSID	International Centre for the Settlement of Investment Disputes	
IDB	Inter-American Development Bank	
IFI	International Financial Institution	
ILO	International Labor Organization	
MIDP	Mesoamerican Integration and Development Project (also known as Proyecto Mesoamérica)	
PPP	public-private partnership	
REDD+	Reducing Emissions from Deforestation and Forest Degradation	
UNDRIP	United Nations Declaration on the Rights of Indigenous People	
UNFCCC	United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change	

## **Executive Summary**

This report is part of a larger study commissioned by the Climate and Land Use Alliance (CLUA) to explore the impacts of extractive industries and infrastructure (EII) on forest loss and degradation and community rights in the Amazon, Mexico and Central America, and Indonesia.

Forest conversion for agriculture expansion, cattle ranching, timber production, and hydrocarbon and mineral extraction has long played, and continues to play, a central role in the economies of Central America. While agriculture and livestock expansion is by far the largest direct driver of forest loss, the effects of extractive industry and infrastructure (EII) are important considerations in understanding threats to forest maintenance, emissions avoided and community rights. Many of these effects are indirect, and it is not always the largest scale projects that pose the greatest threat to forests. Local access and feeder roads, which in isolation may not seem noteworthy, cumulatively create conditions for significant deforestation and an increased threat to Indigenous and community land rights. In addition, frontier zones between neighboring countries can be sites where lack of spatial planning and clear control over resources may lead to rapid degradation and deforestation.

Evidence in the region, from the 1990s onwards, shows that road expansion has correlated directly with forest clearing. Roads have played a clear role in facilitating agricultural expansion of oil palm and livestock. Road expansion data from northern Guatemala suggest that in addition to large-scale planned roads, smaller-scale and local road building is influencing forest cover change, especially along the border with Mexico. Large increases in both planned larger-scale and local road building in the Muskitia in Honduras and Nicaragua thus may also have high potential for forest loss. In some regions, road building interacts in dangerous ways with the narco-economy, facilitating its growth and laundering of profits in land, plantations and ranching – often involving further forest clearing and weakening community-based resource management institutions, both Indigenous rights and forestry enterprises. This type of infrastructure expansion can also have significant impacts on biodiversity, especially on megafauna and key predators.

Dams have had significant impacts on community land rights in Honduras and Panama, and lack of consultation has led to conflict in some cases. Dams also open up areas to further colonization, and this is of particular concern for the Patuca dam complex in eastern Honduras.

Literature on metallic and non-metallic mining is dominated by discussion of Guatemala, and often in less forested areas in the western part of the country. Our analysis, and what little the literature reveals, suggests this mining does not have a high level of direct impact on deforestation, except in a few key cases – the nearly on-line Cobre Panamá project, for example, could lead to significant deforestation and emissions increases. Even in areas where the direct impact of mining is low, there could be significant impacts on community-level rights and environmental protection. In addition, large-scale and artisanal, small-scale extractives expansion in certain areas threatens community-based forestry experiences.

Beyond global prices for minerals and petroleum, national and regional political and policy contexts also drive increasing investment in EII. Regional integration plans (especially around energy, ports, and roads) together with national concerns for increased generation of and access to energy shape public and external infrastructure investment. National policy reforms in Honduras and the pre-April 2018 political context in Nicaragua have been especially favorable to investment in mining and hydrocarbon extraction – large-scale in Honduras and smaller-scale and artisanal in Nicaragua.

The public sector's capacity to regulate EII is uneven and is generally quite limited – either because of resource constraints or political choice. Guatemala and Panama currently have some form of moratoria on mining, offering a window of opportunity to develop safeguards, licensing procedures, and laws and mechanisms for consultation. El Salvador has had a full moratorium on mining in place since March 2017. Room for maneuver is much more limited in Honduras and Nicaragua due to the legal and political contexts. In those instances, company corporate social responsibility (CSR) and reputational initiatives, as well as with international financial institutions (IFIs), in particular the Inter-American Development Bank and World Bank, may offer higher potential and safer modes of engagement toward improving governance of EII.

The remaining forested areas in Central America, mostly along the Caribbean/Atlantic coast and in highland areas, significantly overlap with Indigenous and traditional communities, many of which practice lower impact forest-based livelihood strategies. New roads, new opportunities for electricity generation and for new migration are pushing into these areas. Thus, while mining and hydrocarbon extraction may not directly drive deforestation in Central America, the displacement and conflict that surrounds them could influence the future of forest cover in the region, aided and abetted by infrastructure development, and in particular local road building. In that context, the following areas seem especially important in considering the extraction-infrastructure-deforestation complex and the implications for Indigenous and community forest users' claims:

- Guatemala: Petén (especially along the borders with Mexico and Belize), far western Highlands (San Marcos, Quetzaltenango) for mining/protected area overlap and infrastructure expansion
- Honduras: the Muskitia (Gracias a Dios, Olancho), especially Sico-Paulaya watershed for infrastructure expansion and community lands, the Northern Triangle border area
- Nicaragua: Northern and Southern Caribbean Coast Autonomous Regions (RACCN and RACCS) for infrastructure expansion and mining
- Panama: Chiriquí region for planned infrastructure development, Comarca Ngäbe-Buglé (adjacent to dam areas), Darién peninsula for electricity integration infrastructure.

## A. Introduction

#### Background/context

Central America extends geographically from the southern border of Mexico through Panama in the south (Figure 1). The countries in this region have historically derived a significant portion of their income from commodity and extractive industry exports. Today, agricultural conversion and expansion, cattle ranching, timber production, and hydrocarbon and mineral extraction continue to play important roles in the economies of Central America, with migrant remittances primarily from the United States as a newer and important source of income. These sources of income have been historically associated with land cover conversion from forest or mosaicked landscape into more monoculture or urban uses.



Figure 1. Map of Central America, showing land cover and national boundaries. Forested areas are primarily on the Atlantic/Caribbean side.

While a growing concern with the conservation of nature and traditional livelihoods over the past 30 years has led Central American governments to set aside large protected areas, most governments also continue to opt for the liberalization of investment for both primary products

and industrial exports as core economic growth strategies (1). Governments like those of Honduras have pushed for liberalization (i.e., removing or reducing restrictions on trade between nations) and opening the economy to foreign capital, offering competitive tax and royalty incentives to attract investors in a 'race to the bottom' (2). The Porfirio Lobo government's "Honduras is Open for Business" motto is indicative of this approach to economic growth (3).

Although global prices have varied in the past 15 years, demand for petroleum products and high-value minerals like gold, silver, and copper remains high and a key part of some countries' development strategies (4). The liberalization of these industries in Central America incentivizes certain types of behaviors by 'junior' companies that can lead to negative impacts on forests and communities. "Juniors" are foreign-run, private, and often Canadian companies that intend to sell out to large 'globals' upon securing a deposit and consequently have little immediate incentive to undertake due diligence and outreach to affected communities around potential concession sites (2). Ultimately, the fact that many powerful actors have incentives to see extraction proceed, including international financial institutions, foreign companies and host governments, has contributed to a sense of unruliness around extraction in the region (5).

Across changing administrations, government commitments to regional integration through infrastructure remain strong, with the Plan Pueblo-Panama – now the Mesoamerican Integration and Development Project (MIDP, also known as Proyecto Mesoamérica) – a key example (6). Often attributed to the political agenda of then-Mexican President Vicente Fox, the Plan Pueblo-Panama reflected the efforts of national and international policymakers, with the Inter-American Development Bank (IDB) as a strong supporter, to jumpstart economic development post-Hurricane Mitch (7). In theory, greater integration – through transportation, energy, and communications integration – in the region could support recovery and development and expand the reach of local markets in a context where trade protectionism was increasingly on the wane; however, this integration process started and continues to be implemented through fairly top-down mechanisms (6). Although local communities often support transportation infrastructure improvements due to the new opportunities they bring, the effects on forests are typically negative (8).

All countries in the region have signed the Paris Agreement under the United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change (UNFCCC),<sup>1</sup> but recent reforms in sectors like oil and gas and investment incentives may lead to increased emissions from land cover conversion as well as direct emissions (9). Coal-fired power plants continue to come online as well, in stark contrast to these climate commitments (10). Displacement of small-scale agricultural producers from their lands can also contribute to deforestation as these people find themselves pushed toward the agricultural frontier as corporations acquire their lands for the production of palm oil (11, 12). Further, the expansion of the electric grid and energy access is a key priority for the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> While Nicaragua initially refused to join the Paris Agreement, arguing that the voluntary nature of the agreement and its structure were not sufficient to confront climate change, the country reversed course in late 2017 and is now a signatory. Updated information is available: <u>http://climateanalytics.org/hot-topics/ratification-tracker.html</u> (Last accessed 29 Jan. 2018).

region's countries. This dual attention to climate change mitigation and electricity generation has renewed interest in dams and hydropower despite many negative reports of its historical impact (13, 14). The World Bank, IDB, and national governments continue to support expansion of large-scale hydroelectric investments, both to meet domestic demand and with an eye toward export through the regional energy interconnection system, which aspires to provide a single energy market (15). Wind and geothermal energy have also received increasing attention, which may compete for land with small-scale agriculturalists (16).

In Central America, roads, hydroelectric dams, and mining and oil extraction have tended to trigger deforestation when they overlap with forested areas. They also threaten Indigenous and community land rights when those areas come under the control of extractive or infrastructure companies with authorization to develop projects, especially in the context of weak consultation and consent mechanisms (17). Our findings confirm that extractive industry and infrastructure (EII) expansion contributes to deforestation, forest degradation, and associated emissions in Central America, and it is not only the large-scale projects that pose a direct threat. Beyond large projects and investments that attract national and international attention, smaller and less visible initiatives also play an important role, particularly the building of local access and feeder roads that in isolation may not amount to much, but that cumulatively create conditions for significant deforestation and an increased threat to Indigenous and community land rights. In addition, frontier zones between neighboring countries are sites where lack of spatial planning and clear control over resources may lead to rapid degradation and deforestation.

The landscape of EII in this region is rapidly changing: laws are shifting to accommodate more private investment in extraction in some areas (Honduras, Panama), while closing the door on the industry in other parts (El Salvador); Indigenous and civil society groups are effectively putting a stop to some large-scale infrastructure projects, while project-related criminalization of environmental defenders is destabilizing community security and trust (both seen in the case of the Agua Zarca dam project in Honduras).

Because of the concerns regarding frontier zones and infrastructure connectivity projects, the separate report on Mexico complements this analysis of Central America, and this report makes some reference to common trends within the Central American region as a whole. Due to ongoing trends related to forest cover and EII investment, our analysis focuses more on Costa Rica, Guatemala, Honduras, Nicaragua, and Panama, with reference to El Salvador regarding civil society and government action on mining.

#### Purpose and structure of report

This report was commissioned in 2016-17 by the Climate and Land Use Alliance to provide scoping of the relationships between investments in extractive industries and infrastructure, patterns of deforestation, and the rights of forest dependent communities, especially of Indigenous Peoples. The scoping also considered ways in which different organizations have responded to these relationships, with a particular focus on civil society responses. This report on Central America is one of three separate regional reports and one global/synthesis report.

The report takes as a given that the expansion of the agricultural frontier, including for cattle ranching, commodity production, and small-scale subsistence, serves as the principal proximate driver of land cover change across Central America. However, we ask to what extent investments in extractive industry and infrastructure (EII) are also important drivers of forest loss, related greenhouse gas emissions, and rights infringement in forest communities. We consider the potential role of extractives and infrastructure not just as *proximate* drivers, but also as *underlying* drivers that may, in some cases, enable or incentivize conversion of forests.

Specifically, the report addresses: the current status of these two sectors (Part B); the factors driving increased investment in extractives and infrastructure (Part C); evidence on the actual and potential impacts of these sectors on forests and forest peoples (Part D); regulators of EII expansion (Part E); and different ways in which state and civil society bodies have responded to these impacts (Part F). As the purpose of the paper is to scope, not to recommend, these different responses are not evaluated for their relative merits, and the paper does not make policy proposals.

In examining "extractive industry" the paper focuses on industrial metals mining, artisanal and small-scale gold mining (ASGM), and some hydrocarbon development, as these are presumed to be the extractive activities most likely to have significant impacts on forest cover. For "infrastructure," the report considers large-scale infrastructure investment (primarily roads, dams and power generation infrastructure, and energy transmission) and smaller scale, sometimes informal, transportation network expansion.

The report is based on a review of the academic literature; a review of policy documents; key informant interviews with civil society and public sector informants; geographic information systems (GIS) and remote sensing analysis of concessions and forest cover; and a workshop in San Salvador, El Salvador, to discuss initial arguments and ideas.<sup>2</sup>

## **B. Extractive industry and infrastructure in Central America**

This section provides an overview of historic, existing, and planned extractive industry and infrastructure investments and their overlaps with forested areas in the region. It draws on original research undertaken by the team, including new analysis of the geographic overlaps of concessions, forests, and protected areas, as well as secondary sources.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The paper also benefitted from comments from staff and program officers in the Climate and Land Use Alliance.

#### **1. Extractive Industry**

Minerals extraction has accounted for less than 3 percent of GDP of Central American countries since 1990, with the sector having the most significance in Guatemala and Panama (18). The oil and gas sector typically contributes much less, as Guatemala and neighboring Belize are the only countries in the region with commercial production, though exploration activities are ongoing in Honduras, Nicaragua, and Panama (19). Despite the limited contribution of these sectors to the overall economy – and of these countries to global minerals production – all countries in the region with the exception of Costa Rica have historically privileged the extractives sector, in part because of the important government revenues and foreign direct investment (FDI) that EI can generate. The extractives sector has provided an important source of FDI, even as its contribution to GDP is low; Aguilar-Støen (20) notes that in 2013, 45 percent of Guatemala's FDI came from mining alone. Canadian companies play an outsized role in the region's mining, and the structure of the industry in Guatemala and Honduras has privileged "junior" firms, which are less well capitalized, less incorporated into voluntary regulatory efforts at the global level and significantly financed from the Toronto and Vancouver stock exchanges (2, 21, 22).

As of 2011, more than 14 percent of all land in the northern part of Central America (El Salvador Guatemala, Honduras, and Nicaragua) was under mineral concession (23). The most significant mineral concessions tend to be for gold and silver, which are often co-located and found with other minerals of interest, such as zinc, nickel, and lead. In Guatemala, the government began large-scale concessions for gold and silver after the 1996 Peace Accords, with exploration advancing from about 2004 onwards. Gold production peaked in 2011, although the amount of silver extracted in Guatemala continues to trend upwards (23). Honduras nearly doubled the area under mineral concessions over the first half of this decade, with favorable legal reforms in 1998 and 2013 paving the way for increased gold mining in particular. In Panama, gold mining in the contemporary era began in the mid-1990s, although with little regulation and limited impact on global production levels, leading to minimal industrial gold production (24); however, the country's vast copper reserves are of great interest to investors, and there has been a resurgence in activity since the 1990s (Table 1)(18). The large upfront investment required to exploit these copper reserves has made it the purview of major mining companies, rather than junior firms, although no new licenses have been granted in the past five years. El Salvador encouraged mineral extraction projects through the 1990s and early 2000s, until concerns over the social and especially environmental impacts led the government to issue a moratorium in 2008 that was subsequently enshrined in law (25, 26).

Table 1. Value of proven mineral reserves (at \$3.00/lb CU and \$1,000/oz AU) and mineral resources (probable reserves at \$800/oz), in millions of US\$, by project name. Source: Morales (27).

1. Copper (Cu)	Reserves (million lbs)	Value (million US\$)
Cerro Colorado	25,000+	75,000
Cobre Panamá	26,000	78,000
Chorcha	2,200	6,600
Sub-total	53,200	159,600.00
2. Gold (Au)	Reserves (Ounces)	
Cobre Panamá	7,300,000	10,950
Molejón	500,000	750
Cerro Quema	750,000	1,125
Santa Rosa	750,000	1,125
Remance	100,000	150
Sub-total	9,400,000	14,100
3. Probable Gold Resources	Resources (Ounces)	
Cerro Pelado	115,000	115.0
C. Dorada	40,000	60.0
Viento Frìo	125,000	187.5
Zioro	75,000	112.5
Other	1,000,000	1,000.0
Sub-total	1,355,000	2,032.5
Total		175,733.00

Currently known concession areas for minerals and hydrocarbons overlap with both protected areas and Indigenous and communal lands across the region, though particularly in Guatemala, Honduras, and Panama. Nicaragua's second largest minerals mining complex, in Bonanza, is located adjacent to the Bosawas Biosphere Reserve and Mayangna and Miskitu Indigenous territories. While the cases illustrated in Figures 2, 3, and 4 suggest that the most significant areas of extant forest do not necessarily overlap with known mineral mining concessions, hydrocarbon extraction and infrastructure are known to overlap with key forest areas, such as in the Guatemalan Petén. Here, the existing Xan oil field is the major producer of petroleum in the region and in 2013 the Government of Guatemala granted new exploration and exploitation permissions in six areas across five departments in the country's north. While none of the new fields had achieved commercial-scale production by late 2017, several fields that overlap with protected areas came online, including the Ocultun field within the Maya Biosphere Reserve (28, 29).



**Figure 2. Mining and hydrocarbons concessions, protected areas, and forest loss in Guatemala.** The significant exploited hydrocarbons deposit in the north-western corner of the country near the border with Mexico is shown in purple and overlaps with significant forest loss.



**Figure 3. Mining concessions, protected areas, and forest loss in Honduras.** Oil deposits off the northeastern coast of Honduras are not shown on this map. Although they do not impact forests directly, the mixed forest and marine livelihoods strategies of the Miskitu and Garifuna people could be impacted by changing offshore activity (30).



Figure 4. Mining concessions, protected areas, Indigenous territories (*comarcas*), and forest loss in Panama

While these maps suggest extraction has limited direct impact on forests and emissions, there are notable exceptions. In Panama, one copper mining project, Cobre Panama, will clear 5,500 hectares (ha) of tropical forest and increase deforestation due to accompanying infrastructure development such as road building; further, it will increase Panama's greenhouse gas emissions by 8 percent (31). Cobre Panama is a huge project with capital expenditures projected to total \$6.3 billion for 2016-2018 – an amount that already exceeds the \$5.6 billion cost of the Panama Canal expansion (32–34).<sup>3</sup> Cobre Panama includes a mine and processing plant, where mining and ore processing activities will take place; a tailings storage facility; a port site at Punta Rincón for concentrate filtration and ship loading and unloading; two coal-fired power plants providing energy to the mining complex; and supporting infrastructure (roads,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> The "Cobre Panama" concession consists of four zones totaling 13,600 ha in an area covered by dense rainforest. In February 2018, First Quantum, the Canadian company developing the project, reported that capital development costs would reach \$6.3 billion by 2018 and that \$4.74 billion had already been spent during 2016-2017.

pipelines, transmission lines, camps for accommodation, emission, liquid and solid waste management) (35).

Figures 2-4 do not distinguish between concessions that are active and those that are exploratory, and while the former are the only ones that may have direct impacts on forest loss, exploration activities can attract other forms of investment, speculation and in-migration that may affect forest peoples and land use. Cases of concession overlap with Indigenous and communal lands, which often have community forests of more limited extent, are common, and it is often not until exploration begins in earnest that communities discover that their lands are subject to external claims. In the case of the iconic Marlin Mine in Sipakapa municipality, Guatemala, no clear consultation took place, and it was not until the government granted exploration licenses that the communities became aware of the activity. In Honduras, the law requires that the Institute of Geology and Mines publish the coordinates of all concessioned sites, but they do so in small advertisements in the newspaper, and most communities (and even professionals) lack the knowledge required to know to look for this information and to match coordinates with community locations (36). In such cases, Indigenous peoples and other affected communities have little chance to respond much less consent to projects.

Extractives-related infrastructure development, especially of roads and pipelines, may have an important influence on forest quality and overlap with forested areas and communally claimed lands. For example, the development of hydrocarbon reserves in the western Petén in Guatemala required the construction of roads, pipelines, processing facilities, worker camps, etc., in areas technically classified as protected (37). Local leaders directly attribute the historic and ongoing loss in forest cover in this zone to the government granting permission for an oil access road in the national park, leading to rapid and uncontrolled settlement.<sup>4</sup> Carr (38, 39) suggests that 66 percent of the population growth in Petén from the 1960s to 1990s came from in-migration, primarily of cattle ranchers and small farmers, following road construction – and the population ballooned from tens of thousands to over 600,000 over this period. A proposed pipeline to connect natural gas from Mexico to Guatemala, and potentially through to Honduras and a Salvadoran port, would cross areas of Guatemala already concessioned for mining and with traditional lands in the western portion of the country, and would accompany an inter-modal transportation project (40–42).

#### 2. Energy and Infrastructure: Capacity and Connectivity

An important indicator of the growing potential for infrastructure and energy expansion comes from national and regional commitments to public-private partnerships (PPPs) and integration plans. The Alliance for the Prosperity (APP) of the Northern Triangle, launched in 2014, exemplifies this trend as it aims to attract significant investment to El Salvador, Guatemala, and Honduras to achieve economic development through infrastructure and integration. The Alliance's plan has attracted large-scale financial pledges, including \$750 million from the Inter-American Development Bank. The three governments hope to leverage another \$1.75 billion in

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> L. Sauls interview with ACOFOP leader, Santa Elena, Guatemala (7 June 2017).

private funds (43). The United States also announced up to \$1 billion in funding for the area, although it had not met its goal as of 2016, and the Trump administration's budgeting priorities could shift this number (44).

The Alliance's plan lays out the construction of eight "logistics corridors" to better connect ports and major cities in the region and to Mexico and Colombia. Natural gas pipeline extension is also emphasized in the connectivity plan, and a planned pipeline to transport U.S. gas southward would pass through areas of Mexico and Guatemala that are strongholds for Indigenous groups and community forestry, including Chiapas and Quetzaltenango (45). New power plant development in Panama and El Salvador, in particular, may explore liquid natural gas (LNG) as an option, although the region does not currently produce this resource and would rely on imports through new infrastructure development, including ports and pipelines (46).

In addition to these regional energy and infrastructure integration efforts in the Northern Triangle, efforts to connect Panama and Colombia to the south may also pose a threat to forests (41). In Panama, the proposed electric grid integration through the Darién Peninsula that would have required construction in some of the most intact forests in Central America was publicly rejected by the Minister of the Environment in 2015. However, the preferred solution with a marine entry point near Mamitupu would cross two Indigenous territories (Wargandi and Guna Yala) and trigger additional deforestation of 9,553 ha over 25 years (47, 48).

Proposed intermodal transport routes would cross areas with overlapping concessions and community claims and increase access to these areas. Plans to connect Mexico and Guatemala, as laid out in the APP, would do so. Costa Rica's proposed "dry canal" will also promote connectivity between ports on its different coasts, but involves the expansion and improvement of roads through forested areas on the Caribbean coast and the protected dry forests of Guanacaste (49). Finally, while few believe that the proposed interoceanic canal in Nicaragua will proceed, the regulatory changes that enabled the long-term land concessions along the route have already led to a number of demonstrations in protest of the 'eminent domain' style clause in the canal's enabling legislation (50).

Energy generation projects also have the potential to impact existing forest areas as well as lands titled to and claimed by Indigenous and traditional communities. Each of the governments in Central America has promoted hydroelectric energy over the past decade, with several projects moving ahead even under tense conditions. These projects have already caused strife in almost all of the countries, even relatively more stable Costa Rica and Panama, especially where the projects impact lands held by Indigenous groups. In Panama, the Chan-75 and Barro Blanco projects, which directly interfere with forested Indigenous areas and vulnerable watersheds went ahead, and while the Agua Zarca project in Honduras is currently on hold, even its proposal has caused deadly conflict (51).

In making significant commitments to carbon neutrality and climate change mitigation, Costa Rica has opted to expand hydroelectric capacity. The Reventazón dam is the largest hydroelectric project in Central America as of its initiation in 2016 – and it is the second largest infrastructure project in the region after the Panama Canal (52, 53). The proposed – and

contested – Diquis hydroelectric project would rival Reventazón in size and allow Costa Rica to export additional electricity to its neighbors. It would flood over 7,300 hectares, including Indigenous lands and sacred sites as well as internationally recognized wetland and mangrove ecosystems (54). Guatemala has also pushed to bring new hydroelectric capacity online – at one point proposing a mega-project "hydraulic ring" of connected generation infrastructure across the heavily Indigenous departments of Huehuetenango, Quiché, Alta Verapaz, and Baja Verapaz, despite stiff opposition from civil society and Indigenous Peoples (55, 56).

The Patuca III dam project in Honduras provides an important example of how hydropower projects and Indigenous and protected lands coincide, as shown in Figure 5. As in many other cases, a lack of consultation led to conflict and even to the criminalization of community leaders resisting the project (57). This contested watershed has also been reported as the site of artisanal small-scale mining (ASM) and illicit activity related to narco-trafficking (58). These sites of multiple, conflicting, and overlapping claims in the context of limited government capacity can contribute to a sense of lawlessness and higher rates of deforestation with impunity, especially in protected areas (59). And as Chayes (60) discusses, in the case of Patuca III, one of the principle underlying drivers of this deforestation is a high level of endemic corruption, through which a small, land-rich elite continues to exert outsized influence on state policy and priorities.



Figure 5. The placement of the Patuca III dam project and adjacent protected and Indigenous lands. Source: The Nature Conservancy (61).

# **C.** Key drivers of extractive industry and infrastructure

While the primary drivers of deforestation vary across countries in the region, in each of them increasing privatization and decentralization of resource governance along with increased focus on infrastructure development and integration have had impacts on forests and communities. These trends influence individual and community behavior and open up new spaces for both planned and unplanned 'development'. Below, we discuss proximate and underlying drivers of extractive industry, transport infrastructure, and hydroelectric power expansion, which in many cases are related to these macro-policy changes. These drivers include macroeconomic

policies; national and regional policies (especially for integration); new sources of finance seeking investment opportunities; corruption and special interests; infrastructure for informal and sometimes illicit economies; and synergies between infrastructure, energy and agro-industry.

#### 1. Macroeconomic policies for resource-based FDI

Global commodity prices are a clear underlying driver of increased investment in minerals, hydrocarbons and infrastructure to foster agricultural investment. However, just as important are the policy positions assumed by governments in response to these global contexts. While the governments of the region have taken different stances vis-à-vis mining, their engagement in international and regional economic development initiatives and treaties reveals a commitment to both primary and industrial export expansion. The Central American Free Trade Agreement (CAFTA-DR), MIDP, and the APP all indicate a preference for the kinds of interconnectivity that would enable outward-oriented economic growth and liberalization. For example, commentators and activists have alleged the Government of Honduras is engaging in a 'race to the bottom' with its "Honduras is Open for Business" motto and associated reforms (2, 3). This push signals a pro-foreign investment and export-oriented approach to economic growth indicative of a wider trend in the region, where Guatemala, Nicaragua, and Panama have all promoted new legislation to bolster FDI (2, 3).

#### 2. National and regional policies for integration

The former Plan Pueblo-Panama – now MIDP – outlined the key goals in infrastructure expansion (particularly in regard to roads, ports, multi-modal transport systems, and energy) that have been tracked and have become observed trends. While local communities often welcome new road connections or improvements and energy access options because of the opportunities they bring, these systems can have negative impacts on forests and traditional communities (8). The plans for regional integration put forth in the APP between Guatemala, Honduras, and El Salvador also tracks closely with the infrastructure proposals in the MIDP and its predecessor plans (62). An additional driver in this case is the regional geopolitical relationship with the United States and Mexico, as the APP was announced after a spike in the northward migration of youth in 2014. While its stated aim is to bolster economic growth through integration, many have commented that the Alliance's focus on PPPs and continuation of existing policies is more likely to continue concentrating wealth in elite hands and dispossessing already marginalized groups – with little impact on migration rates (44, 63). Enabling legislation to promote PPPs have been a signature of integration efforts in the region since 2010, with explicit laws passed to promote them in El Salvador (Decree 379-2013), Guatemala (Decree 16-2010 and Governmental Agreement No. 360-2011), and Honduras (Decree 143-2010) (64).

The Mexico-Guatemala border in Petén is one area where these regional integration plans have pushed for this type of infrastructure- and energy-based connectivity (65). Currently, the area between Belize, Guatemala, and the Calakmul National Park in Quintana Roo, Mexico, has a dense network of paved roads and shows extensive tree cover loss, emanating both from

larger, planned infrastructure development and as a result of more localized demands. While deforestation seems to stop at the Guatemalan border, the pressure to build the roads into Guatemala is mounting and if – or when – they are built, extensive deforestation in that area of Petén is to be expected in both the protected areas and the community concessions. Increasing oil production from new fields – especially within the Maya Biosphere Reserve and on the southwestern edge of Petén – could hasten the extension of infrastructure (66).

#### 3. New financial flows and actors

New sources of investment (i.e., outside of traditional donors and development banks) paired with the extractivist development logic of most Central American governments, are poised to enable the expansion of EII. Through the early 2000s, the now-struggling Brazilian National Development Bank (BNDES) and firms like the discredited infrastructure powerhouse Odebrecht provided an influx new financial flows into developing countries, including across Central America. A new focus on South-South development and PPPs underpinned extensive road- and dam-building projects throughout the region. The support of Brazilian funding for EII at the beginning of this century and its subsequent disappearance has opened space for other new actors to fill the gaps (67, 68).

Most studies of Chinese investment to Latin American have focused on South America; however, both Costa Rica and Panama have re-oriented their geopolitical allegiances away from the Republic of Taiwan in recent years, and China has pledged new grant and loan packages in the same timeframe (69). In Costa Rica, Chinese financing is enabling the construction of an enhanced highway to support expanded port capacity along the country's Caribbean coast. The Chinese government has provided \$395 million of the nearly \$500 million project budget, and a Chinese infrastructure and engineering firm is in charge of implementation (70). In Panama, Chinese companies are playing a key role in the development of lands along the Panama Canal, and the government has expressed interest in leveraging Chinese investment to fund a Central American railway connector (71). Although Nicaragua maintains its ties with Taiwan, the proposed canal project would be backed primarily by a Chinese investor, perhaps reflecting China's desire to enable and control alternate transoceanic routes.

The Chinese focus on Latin America in general – and Central American connectivity in particular – reflects the priorities of China's Belt and Road Initiative, including to secure influence over key global transportation routes and to provide a counterpoint to historic U.S. dominance in the region. In 2018, the Community of Latin American and Caribbean States (CELAC) signed an agreement with China to expand engagement between them, with infrastructure as the signature issue (72). The pivot toward PPPs as the key mechanism for implementing infrastructure projects in national legislation further facilitates the entry of new investors and sources of finance, with Chinese firms playing an increasing role at the expense of traditionally strong European firms (73).

#### 4. Corruption and special interests

Corruption is also an underlying driver of deforestation. Processes of land speculation and grabbing often rest on complex political-financial transactions that privilege national elites and international corporations, even where laws requiring consultation and environmental impact assessments exist (20). While its impact was perhaps most destabilizing in Brazil, the *Lavo Jato,* or "Carwash", scandal also hit Guatemala and Panama, where government officials awarded the Brazilian firm Odebrecht major infrastructure and hydroelectric contracts for road-building – in conjunction with receiving millions of dollars in bribes (74, 75). The fallout of this investigation, together with the Panama Papers scandal, has exposed the regularity of such corruption, and the difficulty of prosecuting individuals for infrastructure-related corruption (76).

Mining has also been a key sector for bribery and corruption in Central America, as demonstrated in cases such as Petaquilla Gold (Panama) and Tahoe Resources (Guatemala) (77). Canadian companies have been particularly influential in encouraging mining reforms, such as in Honduras, that allow them to operate with higher levels of impunity, including in regard to consultation and community rights (*ibid*.). Road-building related to integration, mining, agro-industrial expansion, and interests in enhancing large-scale tourism provides opportunities for corruption, militarization, and a continuing concentration of economic and political power; these pressures on land use and control have led to dispossession and clear environmental impacts (20, 78).

#### 5. Infrastructure for informal and illicit economies

Informal road building also plays an important role in driving deforestation and often with more direct negative impacts on existing communities. As work by McSweeney et al. (58) suggests, the introduction of drug trafficking and illicit cattle grazing can open up forest areas for other types of land uses, with long-term consequences. First, forests are cut for clandestine roads and landing strips (and occasionally illegal timber). Second, drug trafficking intensifies preexisting pressures on forests by infusing resident ranchers, oil-palm growers, land speculators, and timber traffickers with unprecedented amounts of cash and weapons, thus allowing them to greatly expand their activities - typically at the expense of the (Indigenous) smallholders who are often key forest defenders. Third, the vast profits from moving drugs create powerful incentives for drug-trafficking organizations themselves to convert forest to agriculture (usually pasture or oil-palm plantation) as a way to hide or launder illicit profits. In most cases, the purchase and conversion of forests within protected areas and Indigenous territories is illegal. but traffickers have enough political influence to ensure their impunity and, where necessary, to falsify land titles. The result is permanent conversion of forests to agriculture. Here, a top-down approach to development coupled with insufficient oversight and enforcement at the ground level combine to drive deforestation through official and extra-legal mechanisms (79).

## 6. Synergies between infrastructure, energy, and agroindustry

As signatories to the Paris Agreement, Central American countries are all producing national mitigation strategies. At the same time, the expansion of the electric grid and energy access is a key priority for the region's countries, according to the MIDP. This dual attention to climate change mitigation and electricity generation has renewed interest in dams and hydropower in particular. Wind and geothermal energy have also received increasing attention, such as new windfarms in southern Mexico, which may compete for land with small-scale agriculturalists (16). Given the clear demand for electricity generation *and* distribution in a region where millions of people still lack access to reliable energy as well as the re-focus on 'sustainable' energy sources, hydropower has gained renewed interest, despite many negative reports of its historical impact (13, 14). Even with significant reporting on the environmental and social impacts of these projects, IFIs and national governments continue to pursue the expansion of hydroelectric capacity.

Oil palm production (for industrial, consumer, and biofuels) is also expanding significantly in the region. Large-scale investment in oil palm in the region has not led to expansion into forested areas in Central America to the degree it did in Ecuador or Peru (80, 81), but has driven deforestation by taking over land previously owned by peasants, many of whom have then gone on to occupy lands in forested areas (11). For example, the Aguán River Valley in Honduras was in previous decades a focus for land re-distribution programs, but has recently become a key oil palm investment zone. Although a 1974 law prohibited the sale of lands distributed under the agrarian reform, requiring that they be reverted to the state for re-distribution to landless peasants, the Agricultural Modernization Law of 1992 privatized and individualized peasant cooperatives, leading to a dramatic sell-off of peasant lands in the Aguán Valley. As accessible and fertile lands for commodity agriculture have become re-concentrated, the migration of nowlandless farmers has become an important proximate driver of deforestation (82). Some of this oil palm is destined for "agro-energy" production, reflecting further synergies beyond agroindustry, energy transition imperatives, and pressure on forests - which, with the added pressures of the narco-economy and corruption, challenge the capacity of forest peoples to protect their lands (83).

## **D. Impacts of extraction and infrastructure**

This section summarizes the environmental and social impacts from the expansion of extractive industries and infrastructure in the region, beginning with trends in forest loss. Based on a review of the literature, interviews with a range of informed observers, extensive document and media reviews, and a workshop with academic, NGO, and community-based leaders from the region, we suggest that the following areas may be especially important for considering the extraction-infrastructure-deforestation complex. This finding specifically takes into account the

important connection between Indigenous and community forest users' rights and forest protection outcomes:

- Guatemala: Petén (especially along the borders with Mexico and Belize), far western Highlands (San Marcos, Quetzaltenango) for mining/protected area overlap and infrastructure expansion
- Honduras: the Muskitia (Gracias a Dios, Olancho), especially Sico-Paulaya watershed for infrastructure expansion and community lands, the Northern Triangle border area
- Nicaragua: Northern and Southern Caribbean Coast Autonomous Regions (RACCN and RACCS) for infrastructure expansion and mining
- Panama: Chiriquí region for planned infrastructure development, Comarca Ngäbe-Buglé (adjacent to dam areas), Darién peninsula for electricity integration infrastructure.

In these regions and cases, factors such as narco-trafficking and the expansion of the agricultural frontier may be important drivers of deforestation; however, these trends are often intimately linked to EII across scales. From oil access road construction facilitating land invasions to ASM as a by-product of the narco-economy, EII expansion has clear links to the deforestation of these remote margins of Central American countries (59).

According to the Global Forest Watch tool, the mean annual rate of tree cover loss in Central America since 2000 was 0.61 percent, with a total loss over the years 2000 to 2016 of 9.8 percent (Table 2). A meta-review of studies on deforestation by Armenteras et al. (84) suggests that between 1980 and 2010, Costa Rica had a slightly positive mean forest cover gain annually, but all other countries included in this study have experienced annual deforestation. Sesnie et al. (59) suggest that up to 30 percent of the more recent deforestation is related to narco-trafficking through the region, much of which is linked to speculative and illegal land investments. PRISMA (85) also notes various cases in which the narco-economy and organized crime are related to forest loss and pressures on territory (while also noting strategies of territorial defense in these contexts).

Country	Percent Tree Cover Lost (2001-16, relative to 2000)	Mean Percent Tree Cover Loss Per Year, 2001-2016
Belize	10.8	0.68
Costa Rica	5.1	0.32
Guatemala	16.1	1.01
Honduras	10.6	0.67
Mexico	5.8	0.36
Nicaragua	14.3	0.89
Panama	5.6	0.35
Regional	9.8	0.61

**Table 2.** Deforestation by country from 2001 to 2016 and annually during that time period, for CentralAmerica (86).

In general, the impacts of EII on forest loss in Central America are not well-researched, although infrastructure expansion has gained more attention than extraction. The vast majority of academic literature on hardrock mining in Central America focuses on Guatemala, and specifically on the impacts of and resistance to the Marlin Mine in San Marcos. Transnational mining companies seem to have undertaken the greatest amount of activity in Guatemala, and the mineral reserves of interest – primarily gold – are amongst the most accessible; however, other countries in the region have experienced similar natural resource development trends since the late 1990s (87, 88). Although the themes emerging from the literature on Guatemala and the Marlin Mine likely reflect trends in neighboring countries as well, the lack of focus on sites in Honduras, Nicaragua, and Panama in particular suggests an opportunity for broader evidence collection. Very recent additions to the academic literature, such as an overview of violence and conflict around mining in Honduras, are expanding research into mining in the region, but evidence is still sparse (4, 36). That said, if some of the trends in Guatemala hold true in these other countries, significant human rights and environmental protection work will remain to be done (89, 90).

While extraction does impact the rights and livelihoods of Indigenous and other forestdependent communities, it appears that neither metallic nor non-metallic mining have a high level of direct impact on deforestation (Table 3). Across these three countries, approximately 0.96 percent of forest loss occurs in concessions with mines in the exploitation phase. However, mining and hydrocarbon extraction does not happen in isolation, especially where the subsoil resources are in remote areas; rather, extraction-related infrastructure development, other infrastructure and human activities can influence forest cover change (91). Indeed, the figures in Table 3 should be understood only as correlations, and not causal relations. This is well illustrated by the data on El Salvador where the deforestation within metallic mining concessions is difficult to explain as being due to mining given that there has been no significant mining activity within concessions.<sup>5</sup>

Forest Loss	El Salvador	Guatemala	Honduras	Sub-region
Metallic: Exploitation	3,643	4,148	1,290	9,081
Non-metallic: Exploitation	N/A	4,692	2,139	6,832
Total Forest Loss	62,738	1,014,611	588,299	1,665,648
Percent Loss from Metallic	5.81	0.41	0.22	0.55
Percent Loss from Non-Metallic	0.00	0.46	0.36	0.41
Percent Loss from All Mining	5.81	0.87	0.58	0.96

Table 3. Summary of loss of forest (ha) within different types of active mining concessions in select countries in Central America over the years 2001-14, based on data from Hansen et al. (92).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> The 3643 ha figure for El Salvador may also be reflecting forest loss within non-metallic mining areas (where there has been quarrying etc.) insofar as concession data combines concessions for both metallic and non-metallic mining.

However, the broader environmental impacts from mining extend well beyond the footprint of mine sites, and sites are often under-regulated. Insufficient legal requirements for mine closure and low levels of oversight and enforcement have proved a consistent problem in Panama, for example, as mine projects have closed without proper environmental remediation (93). In 2010, Panama's environmental regulator assessed the Petaquilla Gold company, which operated the Molejón gold mine, \$1.9 million for deforesting 80 percent of the forest within the concession and found evidence that the levels of heavy metals in tailings ponds exceeded legal limits (24, 93). The sudden closure of the Molejón mine also left local communities with millions of dollars in unpaid wages and debt they could not repay. The localized environmental and social impacts of a mine, even if not extensive as a percent of total deforestation, can be intense.

In terms of infrastructure, road expansion has long correlated directly to forest clearing. Landsat images from April 1986 and 1990 indicated that over 90 percent of new forest clearings were within 3 km of a road or river in Petén, Guatemala (94). Laguna del Tigre National Park in Petén showcases the road building–forest clearing nexus (37): in the period 1986–93, forest clearing rates were quite low but increased significantly from 1995-97, out from the road entering the park from the south to access the Xan Perenco oil field inside the park (Figure 6).



#### Figure 6. Petroleum concessions and the major roads network in the Maya Biosphere Reserve, Petén, Guatemala. The Xan oilfield is highlighted because of its connection to road-building and inmigration.

The data from Petén related to road expansion also suggests that it is not only large-scale, nationally planned roads, but also smaller-scale municipal and at times informal road building that are influencing forest cover change, especially along the border with Mexico (8). According to Amor and Christensen (95), the increased road building supported by regional integration projects "will generate the deforestation of approximately 22,964 hectares during the first decade" – equal to nearly 2.3 percent of total deforestation in Guatemala for the 15-year period cited in Table 2. This type of infrastructure expansion can also have significant impacts on biodiversity, especially of megafauna and key predators such as the jaguar (96).

Large increases in small-scale and regionally integrating road building in the Honduran Muskitia and in the RACCN and RACCS of Nicaragua also suggest this coastal zone may have high potential for forest loss (Table 4). While road expansion (and accompanying electrification and connectivity) may open up new economic opportunities for people in these more remote regions, this infrastructure may impact traditional livelihood structures and support immigration into previously forested regions. The clear impacts on the Nicaraguan Muskitia of cattle expansion and associated investments in rural electrification (for dairy storage) and roads to access markets is a case in point.<sup>6</sup>

Municipality	Km of roads in 2005	Km of roads in 2015	Percent Increase
Bonanza	43	85	98
Mulukukú	75	214	185
Prinzapolka	27	46	70
Puerto Cabezas	293	426	45
Rosita	127	192	51
Siuna	157	260	66
Waslala	101	252	150
Waspam	253	446	76
Total	1076	1921	79

 Table 4. Road network expansion in the RACCN by municipality, 2005 and 2015. Source:

 Ministerio de Transporte e Infraestructura de Nicaragua (97).

Hydroelectric dam expansion has also impacted forest resources, but more explicitly has had negative effects on community land rights. As mentioned above, the Patuca dam complex has posed particular challenges (98).<sup>7</sup> The United Nations' Special Rapporteur on the Rights of Indigenous Peoples reports from her November 2015 trip to Honduras that the construction of the Patuca III dam and its reservoir has affected non-Indigenous populations leading to the illegal settlement of Indigenous Tawahka lands (99). She also mentioned as a cause for

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> H. Rosa, interview with regional forest and Indigenous rights expert, Skype (8 Nov. 2018).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> The Patuca Complex includes the controversial Patuca III dam, under construction since 2013, and the planned Patuca IIa and IIb dams. The Industrial and Commercial Bank of China (ICBC) is the primary project investor and Sinohydro the main contracted builder.

concern the expected impacts of the network of dams on the water levels of the rivers used by the Tawahka and Miskitu communities, especially for their livelihoods and because of the flooding of their ancestral forests. She reported that she was informed that no appropriate consultations with these Indigenous peoples had been held and that there had been no proper studies to assess the impact of the dams on these groups' territorial rights (*ibid*).

These trends in the lack of consultation and the knock-on effects of large-scale hydropower development – including deforestation and rights violations – are also apparent in Panama and Guatemala in particular (55, 100). Indeed, in July 2013, then-UN Special Rapporteur James Amaya singled out the Barro Blanco dam in Panama as a case in which Indigenous people's rights were not being honored (101). He found that the Barro Blanco project was symbolic of the way in which Indigenous people were treated in Panama in mining and hydroelectric investments (102). Nevertheless, the project went ahead and began operations in April 2017.

### E. Regulators of Ell expansion

Natural resource and land governance take place across scales – local, national, international – and include governmental, non-governmental and private actors (103). For extraction and infrastructure in Central America, national governments, international financial institutions (IFIs), and private corporations have historically played a significant role in laying the groundwork for the incentivization and regulation of extraction and infrastructure. While the political and policy contexts in Central America vary by country, this configuration of actors has been important in setting the agenda for development. At the same time, non-governmental organizations (NGOs) and community mobilizations have affected of policy development and implementation, particularly since the late 1990s, and continue to play important advocacy and watchdog roles.

National policy contexts for extractive industry vary across the region. While mining has historically been significant in places like Guatemala, several governments in the region have taken recent steps to slow or halt the authorization of mining concessions, in part because of a lack of adequate mechanisms for governance and rights protection. Costa Rica banned open-pit metals mining by presidential decree in 2002, although it was briefly repealed between 2008 and 2010 to enable the development of a gold mine in Las Crucitas by the Canadian company Infinito Gold. By late 2010, the legislature responded to serious concerns by the environmental movement and unanimously passed a new ban, making Costa Rica the first country in the world to ban open-pit mining (104).

El Salvador's national legislation has gone even further. After a moratorium lasting for nearly ten years, in March 2017, El Salvador passed a full ban on metals mining – the first in the world. In 2008, President Antonio Saca of the conservative ARENA party issued a moratorium on new mining permits, which was continued by subsequent presidents from the opposing FMLN party (25). Proponents of the moratorium argued that the country lacked the capacity to adequately oversee, monitor, and enforce mining laws and that mining would threaten freshwater in the already highly water stressed country (26). The transition from moratorium to a full ban was set

against the backdrop of an investment dispute at the World Bank Group's International Centre for the Settlement of Investment Disputes (ICSID) in which the Oceana Gold/Pacific Rim company claimed that the Salvadoran government should pay \$250 million in damages (26, 105). While the case proceeded in ICSID, a coalition of environmental, ecumenical, human rights, and government advocates also pushed for legislation that would permanently ban mining in the country, which passed with a strong, multi-party majority in March 2017 (106). This said, the law has not yet been regulated and early statements ahead of forthcoming presidential elections suggest that it may still be subject to some rollback as well as contention related to practitioners and proponents of ASGM (107).

Legal cases and calls for legislative reform led to effective moratoria for discrete periods in Honduras and in Guatemala. The Honduran Supreme Court struck down portions of its 1999 Mining Law, preventing new concessions; however, a reformulated Mining Law passed in 2013 allows for new concessions to go forward again (108). In Guatemala, a moratorium measure initiated in 2008 (in response to litigation led by an NGO) has generally affected only the granting of new concessions, while mining in previously licensed concessions has continued (109, 110). In Panama, debate over a proposed ban on minerals mining led to an effective moratorium in 2014. The government has not issued any new permits since that time, in response to citizen mobilization and problems with existing minerals legislation; however, several already-licensed large projects are in the works and could potentially impact forested areas (111, 112).

Governments calling for or implementing moratoria explain the need to 'pause' new concessions for several reasons: to enhance environmental protection; to adequately implement consultation and community outreach mechanisms; to ensure compliance with constitutional or international treaty laws; and to enhance alignment between agencies and policies. The historic lack of coordination between various ministries throughout the region has been cited as a potential problem for governance insofar as it has limited the ability of Ministries of Environment to regulate the negative impacts of decisions by Ministries of Mining and Energy (or Commerce). The invocation of 'national' or 'strategic' interest by governments undermines environmental regulation meant to guard against some of the worst impacts of mining and infrastructure development. The Barro Blanco hydroelectric project in Panama, the Reventazón hydroelectric project in Costa Rica, the large-scale project to connect hydroelectric capacity in Guatemala, and the Nicaragua canal's enabling legislation have all been facilitated by invocations of national interest as a means of overpowering dissenting voices and subverting due process (55, 113, 114).

Whereas Guatemala, El Salvador, and Panama have paused or put a stop to new concessions to address some of the most apparent negative impacts of extraction, Honduras and Nicaragua have passed legislation that is highly favorable to the extractive sectors, with Honduras clearly seeking investment in mining. Nicaragua's opening to Chinese capital around both extraction and infrastructure expansion may presage new governance challenges and limitations on popular resistance to these projects – regardless of the progress of their signature project (115). In all of these countries, weak and unclear mechanisms for reporting negative impacts and violations of environmental and human rights laws continue to hinder effective regulation of

extractive industries, and lead to negative consequences for individual and community health and well-being (116).

One legal innovation that has arisen in many countries around extractive industries is the requirement that companies pay into funds as part of corporate social responsibility (CSR) for local community development (117). In large-scale infrastructure projects, in which the government usually has a significant and direct role, commitments to resettlement or compensation for land loss have traditionally been part of the strategy to address negative impacts. These commitments have also been promoted by IFIs, partly in response to the pressures they have experienced from international protest, in particular for human rights violations. CSR and PPPs have both gained significant attention within IFIs and are now part of guarantee or loan packages to support expansion of infrastructure (118).

While several of the countries in the region are members of international voluntary and regulatory frameworks related to deforestation and extraction, participation is neither universal nor consistent. Guatemala and Honduras are members of the Extractive Industries Transparency Initiative (EITI), which promotes disclosure of revenue and statistics related to mineral and hydrocarbons by member states. Panama, which has significant mineral production, is not a member. Further, neither Guatemala nor Honduras have been in consistent good standing under the EITI, due to late submission of reports (110).

Additionally, the International Labor Organization (ILO) Convention 169 concerning Indigenous and Tribal Peoples and the United Nations Declaration on the Rights of Indigenous People (UNDRIP) continue to play important roles in shaping resistance to and reform of the laws governing extractive industries and infrastructure. That said, spotty implementation of ILO 169 in particular continues to underpin conflict over large-scale projects in the region, including uncertainty around the constitutionality of mineral concessions. Legal advocacy at national, regional, and international levels has also played an important role, with the Inter-American Court of Human Rights (IACHR) handing down important decisions about land rights with clear implications for communities potentially impacted by extractive industries (119). Cases from the region regarding rights violations related to mining and infrastructure continue to come before the IACHR, and the Court often rules against the states – although with severely limited ability to enforce any sanctions (120, 121).

# F. Responses to negative impacts on forests and communities

Most civil society and public response to the impacts of resource extraction and infrastructure have focused on questions of human, Indigenous, land and territorial rights, such as the failure to undertake adequate free, prior and informed consent (FPIC) and the measures required to address these failures. Other responses have addressed adverse implications for water access and environmental degradation. Conversely, far fewer groups have addressed the impacts on

forest loss or degradation. While the loss of land, including forests, has been more clearly articulated in relation to some hydroelectric and large-scale infrastructure projects, once again forest *loss* is not a primary concern, but rather access to land or territory.

Overall, governments in Central America have not acknowledged clear linkages between deforestation and extraction and infrastructure expansion, although some have linked these activities with human rights violations and negative impacts on local communities, including environmental degradation. The landscape of national institutional mechanisms for overseeing and responding to the negative impacts of extraction and infrastructure is changing throughout Central America, but these mechanisms often remain opaque to those communities that are affected and seek some sort of recourse. Only the government of Panama, in its Reducing Emissions from Deforestation and Forest Degradation (REDD+) strategy, has made specific reference to the impact of expanding extraction and infrastructure on deforestation; however, actions to mitigate the negative effects of these activities are not made explicit. Many governments in the region have passed recent laws to reform the mining and hydrocarbon sectors, as discussed above, but these emerging frameworks have been criticized as assigning undue autonomy and socio-environmental responsibility to concessionaire corporations and undermining government oversight. Further, regulatory enforcement is variable across the region and within countries, even where laws to protect communities and the environment from damage from extractives and infrastructure do exist, as through the recognition of ILO 169 in constitutions through ratification of the Convention (122).

A major trend in this region has been the institution of a Human Rights Ombudsperson, Prosecutor, or Commission to investigate and recommend measures to address allegations of violations related to extraction and large-scale infrastructure development. In Guatemala, this body pays particular attention to the extractive industries and has in certain cases advocated for the closure of mining activities because of perceived negative impacts (123). On the other hand, in Honduras, this body has not made extractive industry conflicts an explicit focus of its work and has been slow to act on infrastructure cases. While the creation of offices or commissions has generally helped to highlight rights violations and to bring conflicts over development priorities to light in the region, they have limited capacity or legal authority to mediate solutions or to hold other parts of the government accountable.

Some of the most visible responses to the negative impacts of extraction and infrastructure expansion have come from Indigenous and community-based mobilizations, often with the support of urban-based non-governmental groups, religious organizations, and/or coalitions. For example, in Guatemala, Honduras, and Costa Rica, Indigenous communities have pushed for more accountable mechanisms for consultation and consent under ILO 169. In response to this push for consultation, and in some cases to judicial orders, most governments in the region have put forth some form of legislation or regulation around prior consultation (although consent is rarely mentioned). Both Costa Rica and Panama adopted government-wide requirements for consultation in 2016: Presidential Decree 042-MP established a new mechanism for consultation in Costa Rica, and Article 10 of Law 81 in Panama requires that government entities oversee FPIC processes for any measures or projects that would affect collective rights

(124, 125).<sup>8</sup> In May 2017, Guatemala's Constitutional Court ordered the administration to advance legislation on consultation within one year; by March 2018, the government had put forth a proposed law and started consultations on it (126, 127). Honduras is also responding to pressure from the UN Special Rapporteur on the Rights of Indigenous Peoples as it advances a law on consultation, which is still under debate and has been in process since 2016 (128). While Nicaragua's Law 445, which established the autonomous regions on its Caribbean Coast, included language related to the rights to consultation, implementation has been limited and civil society and territorial authorities continue to call for greater respect for FPIC rights.

Where the government has not ensured adequate processes for free, prior, and informed consent (FPIC), the organization of *autoconsultas* (autonomous, community-organized consultation mechanisms) has allowed communities to declare their refusal to accept certain projects. Many of these *autoconsultas* have been invoked in sub-national jurisdictions, especially in Guatemala, where the Municipal Code has governed the voting process – although the Guatemalan Constitutional Court has not always considered the results binding (129). The process of *autoconsulta* has spread throughout the Western Highlands since the first Guatemalan case in 2005, becoming part of the strategy for gaining support to stop mining in the region more broadly. In many cases, these strategies focus on local challenges presented by mining, especially related to the importance of maintaining clean and adequate water sources, and target sub-national rather than national political spheres in their campaigns. There have also been strategy-sharing exchanges between those involved in Guatemala's *autoconsultas* and groups elsewhere in Latin America.

In their speeches, leaders of anti-mining and/or pro-consultation movements declare the importance of protecting natural resources and forests in particular to preserve community livelihoods. In Honduras, the Civil Council of Popular and Indigenous Organizations of Honduras (Consejo cívico de organizaciones populares e indígenas de Honduras, COPINH), led before her murder by the Goldman Environmental Prize-winning Berta Caceres, put up strong resistance to the construction of the Agua Zarca dam project and garnered international attention for their cause. In June 2017, the final international financial backers of the dam project withdrew their support, effectively halting work on the mega-project (51). In Panama, strong direct action paired with advocacy by the Coordinator for the Defense of Natural Resources and the Rights of Ngäbe Buglé People in Panama, as well as other comarca-based groups, led to concrete advances in stopping mining on Indigenous lands. The passage of Law 11 of 2012, in response to strong organizing by the Ngäbe Buglé against the Cerro Colorado gold mining project, cancelled existing concessions and prohibited new concessions for metal and non-metal mining in the Comarca, its annexed areas, and adjacent Ngäbe-Buglé communities – with the explicit intent of protecting water resources and the environment (130). In Guatemala, the creation of La Puya as an intentional community composed of Indigenous and non-indigenous members from nearby towns to physically block a gold mining project provides another example where local water and livelihoods drove the formation of a successful coalition, which, when paired with the legal efforts of an environmental NGO, led to the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> As of April 2018, Panama had national regulations regarding consultation in place, but had not signed ILO 169. Indigenous groups in the country have made joining this convention a key priority for advocacy.

complete cancellation of the project (131, 132). While forests are not the primary issue around which communities organize, the importance of secure access to natural resources for livelihoods – and the accompanying fear of the degradation of resources as a result of mega-projects and extraction – is a central cause of mobilization.<sup>9</sup>

Religious, social justice and research organizations have played important roles in supporting these coalitions and building networks around resistance to extraction. In 2014, the regional Catholic Church took a clear position in support of every local movement struggling against extractive industries and megaprojects (133). Religious groups, and especially the Catholic Church, have played a significant role in garnering support for the El Salvador mining ban, as well as the Cerro Colorado mine in Panama. Other regional efforts to address the negative impacts of mining and large-scale infrastructure include the Central American Movement against Minerals Mining (M4) and the Observatory of Mining Conflicts in Latin America (OCMAL); these are not active in all countries, but do coordinate regionally on topics related to the negative impacts of mining and how to respond to those impacts.

Some groups have also worked against the criminalization of "environmental defenders", which is one way in which the priorities of groups focused on mining have overlapped with those focused on territory and forests, such as the Mesoamerican Alliance of Peoples and Forests (AMPB for its Spanish acronym). Global Witness (134, 135) has found that Honduras and Nicaragua are amongst the most dangerous places for environmental and Indigenous activists globally on a per capita basis, and that both this type of transparency and reporting work raises awareness of the links between EII, forests, and forest peoples' rights. Oxfam, the International Union for the Conservation of Nature (IUCN), and research centers like Fundación PRISMA and the Research Center on Investment and Business (CEICOM), produce reports on the socio-economic and environmental impacts of extractivism that can influence policy debates. The legislative/litigation strategy has also been important for confronting mining in the region, with groups such as the Legal, Social and Environmental Action Center (CALAS) of Guatemala playing a key role in confronting laws that do not adequately address FPIC and human rights concerns.

For international philanthropy organizations, the focus has been on Indigenous and local communities' territorial rights. This is an effective way to reduce impact of extractive industries on forests as the communities are often co-located with significant forest resources and have a record of environmental protection. However, there does not appear to be any consistent or region-wide program to respond to the impacts of extraction and infrastructure expansion on forests.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> L. Sauls, interview with the head of a Guatemalan forest peoples' group, Tegucigalpa, Honduras (2 March 2017).

## **G.** Conclusions

While mining and hydrocarbon extraction may have limited direct impacts on deforestation in Central America, the downstream and broader indirect effects of these types of projects appear to be more important in driving new frontiers of deforestation. Further, the increased focus on road-building and hydroelectric expansion could directly impact forests, particularly through the erosion of forest peoples' rights. The remaining forested areas in Central America, mostly along the Caribbean/Atlantic coast of the isthmus and in highland areas, significantly overlap with Indigenous and traditional communities, many of which practice lower impact forest-based livelihood strategies. It is into these often frontier areas, such as the Petén and Western Highlands zones in Guatemala, Muskitia in Honduras and Nicaragua, and Chiriquí and Darién Peninsula areas of Panama, that new extractive investments, roads, electricity generation projects, and migrations are occurring.

More research is clearly needed regarding patterns of deforestation, emissions from deforestation in this region, and the linkages and interactions between different drivers. Because of overlapping and often complementary drivers, directly attributing deforestation to a single cause is difficult. That said, Central America is clearly witnessing new types of extractivism and new challenges in the governance of its natural resources. The push for regional integration, both physically and through markets and investment strategies, aligns with persistent political settlements that continue to see forested areas as zones for the accumulation of concentrated wealth through the dispossession of less powerful interests (136). Further, the addition of imperatives for 'green' energy generation and the introduction of new actors – both licit and illicit, have shifted incentives for investment in ways that may further imperil Indigenous and traditional communities' rights. Thus, while mining and hydrocarbon extraction may not directly drive significant levels of deforestation across Central America, the displacement and conflict that surrounds them could influence the future of forest cover in the region, aided and abetted by infrastructure development, in particular local road building.

Some of the efforts already underway to support community and Indigenous land rights and economic development may directly support forest cover retention, such as work in the Petén around community concessions (137). The rise of national mining moratoria also suggests a growing awareness of the challenges of capturing the benefits from extraction without incurring serious social, political, and ecological costs. At the same time, the pivot on the part of some countries back towards extractivism as the primary mode of development suggests that forests in Central America are still at risk. More significantly, the rapid growth of road connectivity will certainly impact forest cover in years to come, and a lack of both consultation around roads and recognition of their impacts could play an important role in conflict and deforestation in frontier and border zones.

Better legal frameworks for FPIC along with implementation of more consistent stakeholder engagement prior to the granting of concessions, the recognition of the multiple claims on spaces of production, and better planning for potential displacement are all parts of improving the context for development in Central America. All of these require the strengthening of both government and community capacity as well as a commitment to transparency by international donors and corporations. Further commitment, especially by more powerful actors with access to capital, to understanding the implications of different types of investment and development visions for conflict, deforestation, and economic growth could alter some of the trends described above.

### References

- 1. Grandia L (2007) Between Bolivar and Bureaucracy: The Mesoamerican Biological Corridor. *Conserv Soc* 5(4):478–503.
- 2. Dougherty ML (2011) The Global Gold Mining Industry, Junior Firms, and Civil Society Resistance in Guatemala. *Bull Lat Am Res* 30(4):403–418.
- 3. COHA (2011) Honduras is Open for Business. *Counc Hemispheric Aff*. Available at: http://www.coha.org/honduras-is-open-for-business/ [Accessed June 8, 2017].
- 4. Middeldorp N, Morales C, van der Haar G (2016) Social mobilisation and violence at the mining frontier: The case of Honduras. *Extr Ind Soc* 3(4):930–938.
- Imai S (2007) Breaching Indigenous Law: Canadian Mining in Guatemala (Social Science Research Network, Rochester, NY) Available at: http://papers.ssrn.com/abstract=1267902 [Accessed February 3, 2015].
- McElhinny V, Nickinson S (2005) Plan Puebla-Panamá: recipe for development or disaster (InterAction, Washington DC) Available at: http://www.bankinformationcenter.org/proxy/Document.9840.pdf [Accessed August 25, 2016].
- 7. Almaguer-Kalixto PE (2016) The Politics of Technical Assistance in Regional Integration Processes: Mesoamerican Insights. *Iberoam J Dev Stud* 5(1):6–30.
- Grandia L (2011) Projecting smallholders: roads, the Puebla to Panama plan and land grabbing in the Q'eqchi'lowlands of Northern Guatemala (Sussex, UK). Available at: http://www.iss.nl/fileadmin/ASSETS/iss/Documents/Conference\_papers/LDPI/13\_Liza\_Gr andia.pdf [Accessed September 21, 2016].
- 9. Ruiz-Mendoza BJ, Sheinbaum-Pardo C (2010) Electricity sector reforms in four Latin-American countries and their impact on carbon dioxide emissions and renewable energy. *Energy Policy* 38(11):6755–6766.
- 10. Cobre Panama Copper Mine *Min Technol*. Available at: https://www.mining-technology.com/projects/cobrepanamacoppermin/ [Accessed April 19, 2018].
- 11. Carrasco JC, Portillo H, Secaira E, Lara K (2013) *Plan de Conservación de la Reserva del Hombre y la Biósfera del Río Plátano: Basado en Análisis de Amenazas, Situación y del Impacto del Cambio Climático, y Definición de Metas y Estrategias* (ICF and USAID ProParque).
- 12. SAG (2016) *Análisis de Coyuntura del Cultivo de Palma Africana en Honduras* (Secretaría de Agricultura y Ganadería, Tegucigalpa).

- von Hirsch CK (2010) The political ecology of hydropower development in Guatemala: Actors, power and spaces. Development Studies (Noragric, Norwegian University of Life Sciences, Ås, Norway). Available at: http://brage.bibsys.no/xmlui/handle/11250/187721 [Accessed September 26, 2016].
- 14. Goodland R (2010) The World Bank versus the world commission on dams. *Water Altern* 3(2):384–398.
- 15. St. James C (2016) Making sense of Central America's renewable energy sector. *Lat Am Energy Rev.* Available at: http://carlosstjames.com/renewable-energy/making-sense-of-central-americas-renewable-energy-sector/ [Accessed May 6, 2018].
- 16. Friede S (2016) Enticed By the Wind: A Case Study in the Social and Historical Context of Wind Energy Development in Southern Mexico. *Wilson Cent.* Available at: https://www.wilsoncenter.org/publication/enticed-the-wind-case-study-the-social-and-historical-context-wind-energy-development [Accessed October 3, 2016].
- Rodríguez-Garavito C (2011) Ethnicity.gov: Global Governance, Indigenous Peoples, and the Right to Prior Consultation in Social Minefields. *Indiana J Glob Leg Stud* 18(1):263– 305.
- 18. Wacaster S (2016) *The Mineral Industries of Central America: Belize, Costa Rica, El Salvador, Guatemala, Honduras, Nicaragua, and Panama* (U.S. Geological Survey, Washington, DC).
- 19. World Bank (2018) Oil rents (% of GDP). *World Bank Group Data*. Available at: https://data.worldbank.org/indicator/NY.GDP.PETR.RT.ZS [Accessed March 19, 2018].
- 20. Aguilar-Støen M (2016) Beyond Transnational Corporations, Food and Biofuels: The Role of Extractivism and Agribusiness in Land Grabbing in Central America. *Forum Dev Stud* 43(1):155–175.
- 21. Nolin C, Stephens J (2010) "We Have to Protect the Investors": "Development" & Canadian Mining Companies in Guatemala. *J Rural Community Dev* 5(3):37–70.
- 22. Shipley T (2013) The New Canadian Imperialism and the Military Coup in Honduras. *Lat Am Perspect* 40(5):44–61.
- 23. Nolasco S (2011) *Impactos de la Minería Metálica en Centroamérica* (CEICOM, San Salvador, El Salvador).
- Bourdillon R (2018) Canadian company leaves dust and debt after abandoning its gold mine in Panama. Natl Obs. Available at: https://www.nationalobserver.com/2018/01/11/news/canadian-company-leaves-dust-anddebt-after-abandoning-its-gold-mine-panama [Accessed April 20, 2018].

- 25. Holland L (2015) For the Love of Water: The Ban on Mining in El Salvador. *Counc Hemispheric Aff.* Available at: http://www.coha.org/for-the-love-of-water-the-ban-on-mining-in-el-salvador/ [Accessed October 25, 2016].
- 26. Dougherty ML (2017) El Salvador Makes History. *NACLA*. Available at: /news/2017/04/19/el-salvador-makes-history [Accessed June 6, 2017].
- 27. Morales Z (2016) Potencial Minero de Panamá (Cámara Minera de Panamá, Panamá).
- Ministerio de Energía y Minas (2016) Contratos Petroleros en la República de Guatemala, C.A. (Gobierno de la República de Guatemala, Ciudad de Guatemala) Available at: http://www.mem.gob.gt/wp-content/uploads/2015/06/CONTRATOS-PETROLEROS-2016.pdf [Accessed May 6, 2018].
- 29. Escalón S (2016) Guatemala y las petroleras: El socio tonto. *Plaza Pública*. Available at: https://www.plazapublica.com.gt/content/guatemala-y-las-petroleras-el-socio-tonto [Accessed April 9, 2018].
- McSweeney K, Coomes OT (2011) Climate-related disaster opens a window of opportunity for rural poor in northeastern Honduras. *Proc Natl Acad Sci* 108(13):5203– 5208.
- 31. de Chassy AB, Chehab N, Cipollitti R (2016) Year Three of the Long Term Mining Monitoring Project (McGill University, Montreal) Available at: https://www.mcgill.ca/pfss/files/pfss/year\_three\_of\_the\_long\_term\_mining\_monitoring\_pr oject\_-\_assessing\_the\_three\_flows\_of\_information\_on\_water\_quality\_monitoring\_in\_donoso\_pa nama.pdf.
- 32. First Quantum Minerals Ltd. (2017) Development Projects: Cobre Panama. *First Quantum Miner Ltd.* Available at: https://www.first-quantum.com/Our-Business/Development-Projects/Cobre-Panama/default.aspx [Accessed May 7, 2018].
- 33. EFE (2017) La Autoridad del Canal de Panamá gana el arbitraje internacional al GUPC. *ABC Econ*. Available at: http://www.abc.es/economia/abci-autoridad-canal-panama-ganaarbitraje-internacional-gupc-201708010111\_noticia.html [Accessed June 6, 2018].
- First Quantum Minerals Ltd. (2018) First Quantum Minerals Forward Looking Statement. Available at: https://s1.q4cdn.com/857957299/files/doc\_presentations/2018/02/Presentation-BMO-FINAL.pdf.
- 35. Minera Panamá S.A. (2017) *Project Mina de Cobre Panamá: Project Financing Executive Summary (Project Description Update)* (Panamá) Available at: https://www.ekn.se/globalassets/vad-vi-gor/hallbarhet/miljoklassade-affarer/cobre-

panama/mpsa-cobre-panama-esia-exec-summary-project-description.pdf [Accessed May 29, 201AD].

- 36. Clark University, Observatorio Universitario Ordenamiento Territorial, Oxfam (2016) *Territorios en Riesgo: Minería, tierra y agua en Honduras* (Oxfam, Tegucigalpa).
- 37. Sader SA, Hayes DJ, Hepinstall JA, Coan M, Soza C (2001) Forest change monitoring of a remote biosphere reserve. *Int J Remote Sens* 22(10):1937–1950.
- 38. Carr DL (2000) Colonization, clear-cutting, and cornfields: Rural migration and deforestation in The Sierra de Lacandón National Park, Petén, Guatemala. *Proceedings of the Conference of the Latin American Studies Association of America* (Miami, FL).
- 39. Carr DL (2008) Migration to the Maya Biosphere Reserve, Guatemala: Why place matters. *Hum Organ* 67(1):37–48.
- 40. Critchley A (2015) Honduras se suma a gasoducto México-Guatemala. *BNamericas*. Available at: https://subscriber.bnamericas.com/es/noticias/honduras-se-suma-agasoducto-mexico-guatemala1?position=1&aut=true&idioma=en [Accessed May 7, 2018].
- Dalmasso S (2016) Las cargas de Tecún Umán. Plaza Pública. Available at: https://www.plazapublica.com.gt/content/las-cargas-de-tecun-uman [Accessed April 16, 2018].
- 42. Casallas D (2017) Gas natural: todos los caminos llevan a Centroamérica. *BNamericas*. Available at: https://www.bnamericas.com/es/noticias/petroleoygas/gas-natural-todos-loscaminos-llevan-a-centroamerica [Accessed May 7, 2018].
- 43. Inter-American Development Bank (2017) IDB Group pledges \$750 million for key infrastructure projects in the Northern Triangle | IADB. *IDB News Releases*. Available at: https://www.iadb.org/en/news/news-releases/2017-06-14/northern-triangle-in-major-infrastructure-push%2C11824.html [Accessed May 9, 2018].
- 44. Paley D (2016) The Alliance for Prosperity Will Intensify the Central American Refugee Crisis. *The Nation*. Available at: https://www.thenation.com/article/the-alliance-for-prosperity-will-intensify-the-central-american-refugee-crisis/ [Accessed April 16, 2018].
- 45. Honduras financiará gasoducto con alianza público-privada (2015) *D Prensa*. Available at: http://www.laprensa.hn/inicio/817277-417/honduras-financiará-gasoducto-con-alianza-público-privada [Accessed May 10, 2018].
- 46. Casallas D (2018) El Salvador's natural gas law, 10 years on. *BNamericas*. Available at: https://subscriber.bnamericas.com/en/interviews/petrochemicals/rocio-aquino-consejo-nacional-de-energia-2 [Accessed May 7, 2018].

- 47. Campoverde D, Burgués Arrea I, Vera Díaz M del C, Bruner A (2015) *Análisis* comparativo de distintas rutas para la interconexión eléctrica Colombia - Panamá (Conservation Strategy Fund).
- 48. ETESA (2017) Plan de Expansión del Sistema Interconectado Nacional 2017 2031: Tomo II - Plan Indicativo de Generación (Empresa de Transmisión Eléctrica, S.A., Panamá) Available at: https://www.etesa.com.pa/documentos/tomo\_ii\_plan\_indicativo\_de\_generacin\_2017203 1.pdf [Accessed May 29, 2018].
- 49. Araya J (2017) Dos proyectos de canal seco interoceánico compiten para abrirse campo. *Sem Univ.* Available at: https://semanariouniversidad.com/pais/dos-proyectos-canalseco-interoceanico-compiten-abrirse-campo/ [Accessed April 20, 2018].
- 50. Reischke M (2017) Canal de Nicaragua: megaproyecto sin futuro | América Latina. *DWCOM*. Available at: http://www.dw.com/es/canal-de-nicaragua-megaproyecto-sinfuturo/a-38539472 [Accessed June 9, 2017].
- Lakhani N (2017) Backers of Honduran dam opposed by murdered activist withdraw funding. *The Guardian*. Available at: https://www.theguardian.com/world/2017/jun/04/honduras-dam-activist-bertacaceres?CMP=share\_btn\_link [Accessed June 8, 2017].
- 52. Poindexter GB (2016) Costa Rica inaugurates 305.5-MW Reventazon hydropower plant. *HydroWorld.com*. Available at: https://www.hydroworld.com/articles/2016/09/costa-ricainaugurates-305-5-mw-reventazon-hydropower-plant.html [Accessed April 20, 2018].
- 53. Dyer Z (2016) Reventazón, Central America's biggest hydroelectric project, goes online. *Tico Times*. Available at: http://www.ticotimes.net/2016/03/30/central-americas-biggestdam-goes-online-after-six-years [Accessed March 27, 2018].
- McPhaul J (2017) Costa Rica's Supreme Court Stops Hydroelectric Project for Failing to Consult Indigenous Peoples. *Cult Surviv*. Available at: https://www.culturalsurvival.org/news/costa-ricas-supreme-court-stops-hydroelectricproject-failing-consult-indigenous-peoples [Accessed March 27, 2018].
- 55. NISGUA (2015) Expansion of hydroelectric dams and energy transportation infrastructure threatens Indigenous communities in northern Guatemala. *Netw Solidar People Guatem NISGUA*. Available at: https://nisgua.org/expansion-of-hydroelectric-dams-and-energy-transportation-infrastructure-threatens-indigenous-communities-in-northern-guatemala/ [Accessed April 20, 2018].
- 56. ACOGUATE (2017) Comunidades de Sacapulas resisten a la privatización de la energía eléctrica. *ACOGUATE*. Available at: https://acoguate.org/2017/02/14/comunidades-de-sacapulas-resisten-a-la-privatizacion-de-la-energia-electrica/ [Accessed April 20, 2018].

- 57. Santiago S (2012) Understanding Power: The Prospects for Indigenous Resistance to a Proposed Mega-dam in Rural Honduras. Undergraduate Research (Ohio State University, Columbus, OH). Available at: https://kb.osu.edu/dspace/handle/1811/52064 [Accessed September 26, 2016].
- 58. McSweeney K, et al. (2014) Drug Policy as Conservation Policy: Narco-Deforestation. *Science* 343(6170):489–490.
- 59. Sesnie SE, et al. (2017) A spatio-temporal analysis of forest loss related to cocaine trafficking in Central America. *Environ Res Lett* 12(5):054015.
- Chayes S (2017) Perspective | A hidden cost of corruption: environmental devastation. Wash Post. Available at: https://www.washingtonpost.com/outlook/a-hidden-cost-ofcorruption-environmental-devastation/2017/06/16/03f93c1e-52b8-11e7-b064-828ba60fbb98\_story.html [Accessed April 20, 2018].
- 61. The Nature Conservancy (2007) *Environmental Flow Assessment for the Patuca River, Honduras: Maintaining ecological health below the proposed Patuca III Hydroelectric Project* (Empresa Nacional de Energía Eléctrica de Honduras).
- 62. Goodfriend H (2017) An Alliance for Insecurity? *NACLA*. Available at: /news/2017/06/14/alliance-insecurity [Accessed April 17, 2018].
- 63. Garcia M (2016) Alliance for Prosperity Plan in the Northern Triangle: Not A Likely Final Solution for the Central American Migration Crisis. *Counc Hemispheric Aff*. Available at: http://www.coha.org/alliance-for-prosperity-plan-in-the-northern-triangle-not-a-likely-final-solution-for-the-central-american-migration-crisis/ [Accessed April 17, 2018].
- 64. World Bank Group (2018) Countries. *PPP Knowl Lab*. Available at: https://pppknowledgelab.org/countries [Accessed April 22, 2018].
- 65. Grandia L (2013) Road mapping: megaprojects and land grabs in the northern Guatemalan lowlands. *Dev Change* 44(2):233–259.
- Sección Estadística (2018) Estadísticas de Hidrocarburos Guatemala: Informe anual 2017 (Departamento de Análisis Económico, Dirección General de Hidrocarburos, Ministerio de Energía y Minas, Ciudad de Guatemala, Guatemala) Available at: http://www.mem.gob.gt/wp-content/uploads/2018/02/2017-Revista-Hidrocarburos-04T.pdf [Accessed April 20, 2018].
- 67. Spotniks (2014) 20 obras que o BNDES financiou em outros países. *Spotniks*. Available at: http://spotniks.com/20-obras-que-o-bndes-financiou-em-outros-paises/ [Accessed May 29, 2018].

- 68. Gomes da Silva J (2017) O rombo no BNDES com as obras no exterior parte 7. *Estado Blog Política*. Available at: http://politica.estadao.com.br/blogs/fausto-macedo/o-rombo-no-bndes-com-as-obras-no-exterior-parte-7/ [Accessed May 29, 2018].
- 69. Wintgens S (2017) China's new relations with Panama and Costa Rica are another step towards a Beijing Consensus in Central America. *LSE US Cent*. Available at: http://blogs.lse.ac.uk/usappblog/2017/11/18/chinas-new-relations-with-panama-and-costa-rica-are-another-step-towards-a-beijing-consensus-in-central-america/ [Accessed April 18, 2018].
- Arias L (2016) Route 32 expansion project receives environmental permits. *Tico Times*. Available at: http://www.ticotimes.net/2016/12/07/route32-environmental-permit [Accessed April 17, 2018].
- 71. Xinhua (2018) Interview: Infrastructure key in future Panama-China relations -- president. *XinhuaNet*. Available at: http://www.xinhuanet.com/english/2018-02/28/c\_137005614.htm [Accessed April 21, 2018].
- 72. Cambero F, Sherwood D (2018) China invites Latin America to take part in One Belt, One Road. *Reuters*. Available at: https://www.reuters.com/article/us-chile-china/china-invites-latin-america-to-take-part-in-one-belt-one-road-idUSKBN1FB2CN [Accessed April 21, 2018].
- 73. Kwon K-S, Kim J-O, Park M, Yi S (2017) Public Private Partnership (PPP) in Latin America's Infrastructure Market and Policy Suggestions for Korea (Social Science Research Network, Rochester, NY) Available at: https://papers.ssrn.com/abstract=3003677 [Accessed May 29, 2018].
- 74. Bowen M, Gray K (2017) Odebrecht's bribery scandal casts a shadow over Latin America. *Lat Finance*. Available at: http://www.latinfinance.com/web-articles/2017/3/odebrecht-s-bribery-scandal-casts-a-shadow-over-latin-america [Accessed May 29, 2018].
- 75. Orta C (2017) How Odebrecht Profited From Corrupting LatAm Political Elites. *InSight Crime*. Available at: https://www.insightcrime.org/news/analysis/how-odebrecht-profited-from-corrupting-latam-political-elites/ [Accessed February 15, 2018].
- 76. Bilbao G (2017) Atlantic Conquest. *Pulitzer Cent Crisis Report*. Available at: http://pulitzercenter.shorthand.com/atlanticconquest/index.html [Accessed April 18, 2018].
- 77. Pedersen A (2015) Canadian Mining Undermines Democracy in Central America. *teleSur*. Available at: https://www.telesurtv.net/english/opinion/Canadian-Mining-Undermines-Democracy-in-Central-America-20150824-0010.html [Accessed April 21, 2018].
- 78. Devine JA (2018) Community forest concessionaires: resisting green grabs and producing political subjects in Guatemala. *J Peasant Stud* 45(3):565–584.

- 79. McSweeney K, Richani N, Pearson Z, Devine J, Wrathall DJ (2017) Why Do Narcos Invest in Rural Land? *J Lat Am Geogr* 16(2):3–29.
- Dammert Bello JL (2015) Hacía una Ecología Política de la Palma Aceitera en el Perú (Oxfam, Lima, Perú) Available at: https://peru.oxfam.org/policy\_paper/hacia-unaecologia-politica-de-la-palma-aceitera-en-el-peru [Accessed December 30, 2016].
- Johnson A (2015) Participatory Governance, Plant Disease, and Post-Neoliberalism: The Roundtable on Sustainable Palm Oil (RSPO) and its Governing Processes in Ecuador. PhD (Clark University, Worcester, MA).
- 82. Kerssen TM (2013) *Grabbing Power: The New Struggles for Land, Food and Democracy in Northern Honduras* (Food First Books, New York).
- 83. Picado H (2016) Expansion of Oil Palm Plantations as State Policy in Central America. *World Rainfor Mov Bull* 226(September/October 2016):9–12.
- 84. Armenteras D, Espelta JM, Rodríguez N, Retana J (2017) Deforestation dynamics and drivers in different forest types in Latin America: Three decades of studies (1980–2010). *Glob Environ Change* 46:139–147.
- 85. PRISMA (2014) Pueblos Indígenas y Comunidades Rurales Defendiendo Derechos Territoriales Estudios de Caso sobre Experiencias de Prevención y Defensa ante el Narcotráfico y el Crimen Organizado en Mesoamérica. Available at: http://www.prisma.org.sv/uploads/media/Pueblos\_indigenas\_y\_comunidades\_rurales.pdf [Accessed October 13, 2017].
- 86. World Resources Institute (2014) Country Profiles. *Glob For Watch*. Available at: https://www.globalforestwatch.org/countries [Accessed May 18, 2018].
- 87. Power TM (2009) *Metals mining and sustainable development in Central America An assessment of benefits and costs* (Oxfam America) Available at: http://www.oxfamamerica.org/static/oa3/files/metals-mining-and-sustainable-development-in-central-america.pdf.
- 88. Deonandan K, Dougherty ML eds. (2016) *Mining in Latin America: Critical Approaches to the New Extraction* (Routledge).
- 89. Urkidi L (2011) The Defence of Community in the Anti-Mining Movement of Guatemala. *J Agrar Change* 11(4):556–580.
- 90. Yagenova SV, Garcia R (2009) Indigenous People's Struggles Against Transnational Mining Companies in Guatemala: The Sipakapa People vs GoldCorp Mining Company. *Social Democr* 23(3):157–166.

- 91. Sonter LJ, et al. (2017) Mining drives extensive deforestation in the Brazilian Amazon. *Nat Commun* 8(1). doi:10.1038/s41467-017-00557-w.
- 92. Hansen MC, et al. (2013) High-Resolution Global Maps of 21st-Century Forest Cover Change. *Science* 342(6160):850–853.
- 93. The tainted history of the "Father of Panama Mining" (2016) *Newsroom Panama*. Available at: http://www.newsroompanama.com/news/panama/tainted-history-fatherpanama-mining [Accessed April 20, 2018].
- 94. Sader SA, Sever T, Smoot JC, Richards M (1994) Forest change estimates for the northern Petén region of Guatemala 1986–1990. *Hum Ecol* 22(3):317–332.
- 95. Amor D, Christensen N (2008) Forecasting deforestation from the impact of road investments in the Mayan Forest. *Nicholas Sch Environ Duke Univ Durh NC USA*. Available at: https://www.researchgate.net/profile/Norman\_Christensen/publication/265938076\_Foreca sting\_deforestation\_from\_the\_impact\_of\_road\_investments\_in\_the\_Mayan\_Forest/links/5 5509dee08ae12808b3901fe.pdf [Accessed September 22, 2016].
- 96. Ovando C, Amor D (2008) Road Impact on Deforestation and Jaguar Habitat Loss in the Mayan Forest. Dissertation (Duke University, Durham, N.C.). Available at: http://dukespace.lib.duke.edu/dspace/handle/10161/689 [Accessed December 29, 2016].
- 97. Ministerio de Transporte e Infraestructura (2018) Mapas Municipales: Región Autonoma Atlántico Norte. Available at: https://www.mti.gob.ni/index.php/mapas-municipales-dgp/44-mapas-municipales-raan [Accessed July 14, 2018].
- 98. BankTrack (2016) Patuca III dam project (Piedras Amarillas). *BankTrack*. Available at: https://www.banktrack.org/project/patuca\_iii\_dam\_project [Accessed May 29, 2018].
- United Nations (2016) Report of the Special Rapporteur on the rights of indigenous peoples on her visit to Honduras (United Nations, New York) Available at: https://documents-ddsny.un.org/doc/UNDOC/GEN/G16/162/03/PDF/G1616203.pdf?OpenElement [Accessed December 30, 2016].
- 100. Finley-Brook M, Thomas C (2010) Treatment of Displaced Indigenous Populations in Two Large Hydro Projects in Panama. *Water Altern*:269–290.
- 101. Bivin Ford SE (2015) The Ngäbe-Buglé Fight to Maintain Territorial Sovereignty. MA (University of California, San Diego, San Diego, CA). Available at: https://cloudfront.escholarship.org/dist/prd/content/qt9qf03131/qt9qf03131.pdf [Accessed May 29, 2018].

- 102. BankTrack (2017) Barro Blanco dam project. *Banktrack*. Available at: https://www.banktrack.org/project/barro\_blanco\_dam\_project [Accessed May 29, 2018].
- 103. Bulkeley H (2005) Reconfiguring environmental governance: Towards a politics of scales and networks. *Polit Geogr* 24(8):875–902.
- 104. Holland L (2015) The Open Pit and the Great Green Macaw in Costa Rica. *Counc Hemispheric Aff*. Available at: http://www.coha.org/the-open-pit-and-the-great-green-macaw-in-costa-rica/ [Accessed May 29, 2018].
- Provost C, Kennard M (2016) World Bank tribunal dismisses mining firm's \$250m claim against El Salvador. *The Guardian*. Available at: http://www.theguardian.com/globaldevelopment/2016/oct/14/el-salvador-world-bank-tribunal-dismisses-oceanagold-miningfirm-250m-claim [Accessed May 29, 2018].
- 106. Hares S (2017) Water takes gold as El Salvador bans metal mining. *Reuters*. Available at: https://www.reuters.com/article/us-el-salvador-mining-water/water-takes-gold-as-el-salvador-bans-metal-mining-idUSKBN1762AG [Accessed May 29, 2018].
- 107. Asmann P (2017) How El Salvador's Metal Mining Ban Could Benefit Organized Crime. InSight Crime. Available at: https://www.insightcrime.org/news/brief/how-el-salvadormetal-mining-ban-could-benefit-organized-crime/ [Accessed May 29, 2018].
- 108. Herrera JLP, et al. (2017) *Territorios en riesgo: Minería, tierra y agua en Honduras* (Oxfam, Tegucigalpa, Honduras).
- 109. Williams S (2013) Guatemala moratorium could affect 62 mining projects press. BNamericas. Available at: http://www.bnamericas.com/en/news/mining/guatemalamoratorium-could-affect-62-mining-projects-press [Accessed December 29, 2016].
- 110. EITI Secretariat (2015) Falling extractives revenues in Guatemala amidst political turmoil. *Extr Ind Transpar Initiat.* Available at: https://eiti.org/news/falling-extractives-revenues-inguatemala-amidst-political-turmoil [Accessed June 8, 2017].
- 111. Office of the Extractive Sector Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR) Counsellor (2018) Panama Country Trip Overview. Glob Aff Can. Available at: http://www.international.gc.ca/csr\_counsellor-conseiller\_rse/trip\_overview\_panamaapercu\_voyage\_panama.aspx?lang=eng [Accessed May 29, 2018].
- 112. Ministerio de Comercio e Industrias (2018) Solicitudes y Concesiones Mineras -Ministerio de Comercio e Industrias. Gob Repúb Panamá. Available at: http://www.mici.gob.pa/detalle.php?cid=16&id=1412 [Accessed May 29, 2018].
- 113. MacKay F, Garro AM (2014) *Violations of Indigenous Peoples' Territorial Rights: The Example of Costa Rica* (Forest Peoples Programme, Moreton-in-Marsh, UK).

- 114. Giraldo CM (2017) Panama's Barro Blanco dam to begin operation, indigenous pleas refused. *Mongabay*. Available at: https://news.mongabay.com/2017/03/panamas-barro-blanco-dam-to-begin-operation-indigenous-pleas-refused/ [Accessed April 18, 2018].
- 115. Gustafson I (2016) The Dubious Impact of Chinese Investment in Latin America. *Counc Hemispheric Aff.* Available at: http://www.coha.org/the-dubious-impact-of-chinese-investment-in-latin-america/ [Accessed December 29, 2016].
- 116. Caxaj CS, Berman H, Varcoe C, Ray SL, Restoulec J-P (2014) Gold mining on Mayan-Mam territory: Social unravelling, discord and distress in the Western highlands of Guatemala. *Soc Sci Med* 111:50–57.
- 117. Dougherty ML, Olsen TD (2013) Taking Terrain Literally: Grounding Local Adaptation to Corporate Social Responsibility in the Extractive Industries. *J Bus Ethics* 119(3):423–434.
- 118. Peinado-Vara E (2005) *Corporate Social Responsibility In Latin America: Responsible Solutions For Business And Social Problems* (Inter-American Development Bank, Washington DC).
- Alvarado LJ (2007) Prospects and Challenges in the Implementation of Indigenous Peoples' Human Rights in International Law: Lessons from the Case of Awas Tingni v. Nicaragua. *Ariz J Int Comp Law* 24(3):609.
- 120. Inter-American Commission on Human Rights (2015) *Situation of Human Rights in Guatemala: Diversity, Inequality and Exclusion* (Organization of American States, Washington, DC).
- 121. Organization of American States (2017) IACHR Condemns Murders of Human Rights Defenders in the Region (OAS) Available at: http://www.oas.org/en/iachr/media\_center/preleases/2017/011.asp [Accessed April 22, 2018].
- 122. Courtis C (2009) Notes on the implementation by Latin American countries of the ILO Convention 169 in indigenous peoples. *Sur Rev Int Direitos Hum* 6(10):52–81.
- 123. van de Sandt J (2009) *Mining Conflicts and Indigenous Peoples in Guatemala* (Cordaid, The Hague).
- 124. Aprueban ley en Panamá que decreta consulta previa de proyectos a indígenas (2016) *El D.* Available at: https://www.eldiario.es/sociedad/Aprueban-Panama-consulta-proyectos-indigenas\_0\_509549088.html [Accessed April 24, 2018].
- 125. Indígenas exigen al Gobierno ratificar el Convenio 169 de OIT (2017) *PanamáToday*. Available at: http://www.panamatoday.com/es/panama/indigenas-exigen-al-gobiernoratificar-el-convenio-169-de-oit-4891 [Accessed April 25, 2018].

- 126. Suncar J (2018) Ley de Consulta a Pueblos Indígenas es una prioridad para el Gobierno de Guatemala | AGN. *Agencia Guatem Not*. Available at: https://agn.com.gt/politica/ley-de-consulta-a-pueblos-indigenas-es-una-prioridad-para-el-gobierno-de-guatemala/ [Accessed April 24, 2018].
- 127. Yelmo J (2018) Avanza propuesta de ley de consulta. *D CentroAmeríca*. Available at: https://dca.gob.gt/noticias-guatemala-diario-centro-america/avanza-propuesta-de-ley-deconsulta/ [Accessed April 24, 2018].
- 128. Jiménez LC (2017) Consulta libre, previa e informada. *Proceso Digit*. Available at: http://proceso.hn/criterios1/20-luis-cosenza/consulta-libre-previa-e-informada.html [Accessed April 24, 2018].
- 129. Walter M, Urkidi L (2015) Community mining consultations in Latin America (2002–2012): The contested emergence of a hybrid institution for participation. *Geoforum*. doi:10.1016/j.geoforum.2015.09.007.
- León JLR (2016) El recurso cuprífero de Cerro Colorado, Comarca Ngäbe-Buglé, Panamá (1946-2014). Factor de negociación o de represión entre el Estado panameño y el grupo ngäbe. Secuencia (96). Available at: http://secuencia.mora.edu.mx/index.php/Secuencia/article/view/1409 [Accessed April 25, 2018].
- 131. Pedersen A (2014) Landscapes of Resistance: Community Opposition to Canadian Mining Operations in Guatemala. *J Lat Am Geogr* 13(1):187–214.
- 132. Barrios F (2016) CSJ ordena suspensión definitiva del proyecto minero "La Puya." *Not Guatem.* Available at: http://noticias.com.gt/nacionales/20160630-csj-ordena-suspension-definitiva-proyecto-minero-puya.html [Accessed December 29, 2016].
- 133. Secretariado Episcopal de América Central (2014) Comunicado del Secretariado Episcopal de América Central (SEDAC) al Término de su Asamblea Anual (SEDAC, Managua, Nicaragua) Available at: http://www.iglesiahn.org/images/download/MensajeSEDAC2014.pdf [Accessed December 29, 2016].
- 134. Global Witness (2017) Defenders of the Earth: Global Killings of Land and Environmental Defenders in 2016 (Global Witness, London) Available at: https://www.globalwitness.org/en/campaigns/environmental-activists/defenders-earth/ [Accessed March 12, 2018].
- 135. Global Witness (2017) Honduras: the deadliest country in the world for environmental activism (Global Witness, London) Available at: https://www.globalwitness.org/en/campaigns/environmental-activists/honduras-deadliestcountry-world-environmental-activism/ [Accessed May 29, 2018].

- 136. Bebbington A, Abdulai A-G, Hinfelaar M, Humphreys Bebbington D, Sanborn C (2017) Political settlements and the governance of extractive industry: A comparative analysis of the longue durée in Africa and Latin America (Effective States and Inclusive Development Research Centre at The University of Manchester, Manchester, UK) Available at: http://www.effective-states.org/wp-content/uploads/working\_papers/finalpdfs/esid\_wp\_81\_bebbington\_et\_al.pdf [Accessed March 24, 2018].
- 137. Monterroso I, Barry D (2012) Legitimacy of forest rights: The underpinnings of the forest tenure reform in the protected areas of Petén, Guatemala. *Conserv Soc* 10(2):136.

